IN THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

MESSODY J. PERLBERGER, : Cl VIL ACTI ON
etc. :

V.
NORMAN PERLBERGER, 5 NO 97-4105
et al. :

MEMORANDUM

Padova, J. February 20, 1998
Plaintiff Messody J. Perl berger (“Plaintiff”), individually
and on behal f of her two m nor daughters, brings this action
agai nst her ex-husband and the father of her children, Nornman
Per | berger (“Defendant Perl berger”), and ot her Defendants
alleging that the Defendants participated in a fraudul ent schene
to conceal the true value of Defendant Perlberger’s incone during
the couple’s divorce proceedings. Plaintiff alleges violations
of the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act
(“RICO’), 18 U.S.C. A 88§ 1961-68 (\West 1984 & Supp. 1997), by use
of mail and wire fraud, in violation of 18 U S.C. A 88 1341 and
1343 (West 1984 & Supp. 1997). In addition, Plaintiff brings
clains based in state | aw agai nst the Defendants.
Before the Court are two Motions to Dismss, pursuant to
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6), on the ground that the
Conpl ai nt does not state a claimunder RICO and that because

there is no other basis for federal jurisdiction, the Court



should dismss Plaintiff’s state clains. The first Mtion is
filed by Defendants G Daniel Jones and Jones, Hayward and Lenz
(the “Accountant Defendants”). The other Mtion is filed by

Def endant Perl berger and the remai ni ng Defendants (the “Attorney
Def endants”).! For the reasons that follow, the Court will deny

both of the Mdtions.

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

By Order filed on Septenber 18, 1997, the Court granted in
part and denied in part Mdtions to Dismss filed by the
Def endants. The Court dism ssed Count Il (G vil Conspiracy, 18
U S C 88 1985 and 1986), Count IV (Violation of the Federal
Fam |y Support Act of 1988, 42 U S.C. §8 601), and Count V
(Violation of the First and Fourteenth Anendnents). As a result,
the only Federal claimremaining in Plaintiff’s Conplaint was
Count 11l (Violation of RICO). The Court granted Plaintiff |eave
to anmend her Conplaint as to her RICO claim

Plaintiff’s Conplaint also included the followng state | aw
clainms -- Count | (Fraud), Count VI (Intentional Infliction of
Enmotional Distress), and Count VII (Personal Injury). The Court

deferred ruling on whether the Court would exercise jurisdiction

'The two Mbtions raise similar and sonetinmes identical
argunents. In addition, the Accountant Defendants’ Mbtion
i ncorporates by reference the argunents raised in the Attorney
Def endants’ Mdtion. Therefore, the Court will address both of
the Mdtions together in this Menorandum and Order.
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over Plaintiff’s state clains until Plaintiff had the opportunity
to amend her RICO claim

On Decenber 8, 1997, Plaintiff filed a R CO Case Statenent
and an Anended Count 11l of Conplaint. |In response, Defendants
renewed their Motions to Dismiss Plaintiff's Rl CO claimand her

state | aw cl ai ns.

1. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

For the purposes of analyzing Defendants’ Mdtions, the Court
will treat the RICO Case Statenent and Anmended Count 111 of the

Conplaint as part of Plaintiff’s Conplaint. See Lorenz v. CXS

Corp., 1 F.3d 1406, 1413 (3d Cr. 1993)(relying on a Rl CO Case

Statenent in assessing a notion to dism ss); Brokerage Concepts,

Inc. v. U S. Healthcare, Inc., GCv.A No. 95-1698, 1995 W. 455969

at *13 n. 1 (E D Pa. July 27, 1995)(stating "[t] he RI CO case
statenent will be regarded as a pleading in this action")(citing

Greek Radio Network of Anerica v. Vlasopoulos, 731 F. Supp. 1227,

1234 n.12 (E.D. Pa.1990)(referring to Conpl aint and Rl CO Case
Statenent collectively as "the Conplaint")). The factual
background set forth in this section is derived fromthe
allegations in the Conplaint, the RICO Case Statenent, and

Anmended Count II1.



Plaintiff alleges the following.? |In 1996, she di scovered that

Def endant s had devi sed and perpetrated a fraudul ent schene

wher eby Def endant Perl berger was able to conceal the true val ue
of his inconme fromboth Plaintiff and the Court of Common Pl eas
of Montgonery County, which had jurisdiction over the

Per| bergers’ divorce proceedings. (Conpl. at  20(B)(e).) By

means of this fraudul ent schene, Defendant Perl berger

m srepresented the value of his incone by nore than half. (Ld.
at 1 20(B)(a).)

As a result of Defendants’ fraudul ent conduct, the awards
for child support and alinony ordered by the Court of the Common
Pl eas were | ess than they woul d have been if the Court of Conmobn
Pl eas had known Def endant Perl berger’s true incone.

Consequently, Plaintiff and her two mnor children | ost nore than
eighty per cent of their former incone and suffered a di mnution
intheir quality of life. (Ld. at Y 22 and 32.) They al so have
suffered in a nyriad of other ways, including humliation, |oss
of self-esteem anxiety, |oss of health, and exacerbation of
health problens. (ld. at Y 33-40.) The fraudulent schene is

not conplete, continues to the present, and will continue into

’I'n her RICO Case Statenment and Arended Count 111, Plaintiff
has provi ded additional detail concerning the alleged fraudul ent
schene that fornms the basis of her RRCO claim The Court does
not intend to repeat all of those allegations here. Instead, the
Court will describe the schenme and include certain details to
illustrate how the schene all egedly operated.
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the future as I ong as Defendant Perl berger is subject to an
obligation to support Plaintiff and her children. (Am Count Il
at 1 14.)

The fraudul ent schene operated as follows. In 1986,
Def endant Perl berger decided to divorce Plaintiff. (l1d. at
16.) Rather than | eave his wife and conmence divorce proceedi ngs
i medi ately, he devised a schene, whereby he would initiate an
extra-marital affair for the purpose of shielding his assets and
income fromscrutiny in his anticipated divorce fromPlaintiff.
(ILd. at § 17.) To that end, while he was still living with
Plaintiff and their children, he began a romantic relationship
wth Diane J. Strausser, a client he was representing in her
di vorce proceedings. (ld. at § 20.) On May 4, 1987, he left his
marital residence and began living with Ms. Strausser. (ld. at
1 23.) On May 6, 1987, he filed a divorce conpl ai nt agai nst
Plaintiff in the Montgonery County Court of Common Pleas. (ld.
at 1 24.)

In June 1987, Defendant Perl berger settled Ms. Strausser’s
di vorce case for $850,000 in cash plus other property. (lLd. at
1 25.) At Defendant Perl berger’s suggestion, M. Strausser
purchased a house in Lionville, Pennsylvania for $420, 000 where
they could live together. (ld. at T 28.) Although he
contributed his own funds to purchase the property, the deed for

the Lionville property was put only in Ms. Strausser’s name SO



that he could conceal his interest in the property and prevent
Plaintiff frommaking a claimon the property during the
Per| bergers’ divorce proceedings.® (ld. at T 30-34.)

In June 1988, Defendant Perlberger left the |aw firm of
Bl ank, Rone, Com skey & McCauley (“Blank Rone”), where he was a
partner, to start his owm law firm which cane to be call ed
Per| berger Law Associates. (ld. at § 40.) At the time of his
departure from Bl ank Rone, he had a substantial sumof noney in a
capital account owed to himby Blank Rone. (ld. at § 41.)
I nstead of directly investing the noney fromthe capital account
in his new business and running the risk that the noney woul d be
considered a marital asset and therefore subject to a claimby
Plaintiff, Defendant Perl berger used Ms. Strausser to obtain
financing, in the formof a $500,000 line of credit, for his new
law firm (1d. at T 42-48.) He persuaded Ms. Strausser to
secure the line of credit so that he was able to conceal the use
of funds fromthe Bl ank Rone capital account to establish his new

law firmand to argue successfully in the divorce proceedi ngs

*Plaintiff alleges on information and belief that the
Account ant Defendants were involved in the negotiations for and
t he purchase of the Lionville property and were aware of and
conspired with Defendant Perl berger to use Ms. Strausser to
m nimze the apparent anount of his assets and incone in order to
defraud Plaintiff. Plaintiff further alleges on information and
belief that the Accountant Defendants were also involved in
negoti ations for and the purchase of two ot her expensive honmes by
Ms. Strausser for the benefit of Defendant Perl berger and in
furtherance of the fraudul ent schene perpetrated by Defendants.
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that his newlaw firmwas not a marital asset. (ld. at Y 49-
50.)

Once his new |l aw firmwas operational, he enpl oyed M.
Strausser as an office adm nistrator and client counselor, and
paid her an inflated salary reflected on the payroll of
Per| berger Law Associates. (Conpl. at § 20(B)(c); Am Count |1
at 19 51-53.) Defendant Perl berger and the Accountant Defendants
structured Ms. Strausser’s salary to pay Defendant Perl berger’s
daily expenses so that he could maintain his lavish l[ifestyle
whil e he continued to represent that he had little personal
income of his owmn.* (ld. at § 20(B)(a)-(e).) By mnimzing the
anount of incone he reported in the divorce proceedi ngs,

Def endant Perl berger was able to decrease his financial exposure
and liability to Plaintiff. (1d.) Defendant Perl berger had the
Account ant Defendants prepare a fraudulent “joint financial
statenent” for use in his divorce proceedi ngs, which inaccurately
reflected substantial assets owned by Ms. Strausser, mnim zed
the extent of Defendant Perl berger’s own assets, and hid the

val ue of Perl berger Law Associates. (Am Count Il at |Y 60-61.)

For their role in the scheme, the Accountant Defendants received

I'n simlar fashion, Perlberger Law Associates al so paid
extravagant fees to Professional Link and Professional Leasing,
two fictitious business nanes assigned to Ms. Strausser, for
| easing artwork and furniture Ms. Strausser used in the firm
(Am Count 111 at § 54.) In addition, Perlberger Law Associ ates
paid for Ms. Strausser’s |luxury car paynents and expenses,

Ameri can Express paynents, and other benefits. (1d.)
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substantial fees, paynents, and benefits. (ld. at § 65.)

On or about 1992, when Defendant Perl berger’s personal and
professional relationship with Ms. Strausser ended, Any S. Lundy
Brennan, an attorney enployed by and currently married to
Def endant Perl berger, replaced Ms. Strausser as the conduit to
shel ter Defendant Perl berger’s incone. (Conpl. at Y 23-26.)

Ms. Brennan was paid an inflated salary by Perl berger Law

Associ ates, and the Accountant Defendants structured paynents to
Def endant Brennan in the sane nmanner and to the sane end as they
had done with the paynents to Ms. Strausser. (1d.)

Anot her conponent of the fraudul ent schene to decrease the
anount of Defendant Perlberger’s reported i ncone and assets in
the divorce proceedings allegedly invol ved Def endant Rot henber g,
an attorney. (Am Count Il at Y 89-92.) Defendant Rothenberg
hel ped Def endant Perl berger shelter his income by sharing fees
and “hol di ng” cases for Defendant Perl berger, including a
substanti al casel oad of asbestos personal injury cases, which had
substantial settlenent value. (ld.) |In this way, substanti al
marital assets were concealed fromPlaintiff. (1d.)

Plaintiff alleges that docunents necessary to perpetrate the
fraudul ent schenme were exchanged anong the Defendants by use of
the United States Mail and facsimle transm ssion and that
di scussions by the Defendants relating to the fraudul ent schene

were held on the tel ephone. (1d. at 97 31, 38, 46, 52, 55, 59,



62, 71, 85, 87, and 91.)

I11. LEGAL STANDARD

A claimmay be dism ssed under Fed. R Gv.P. 12(b)(6) only if
the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of the claim

that would entitle her to relief. ALA Inc. v. CCAIR 1Inc., 29

F.3d 855, 859 (3d Cir. 1994). The reviewi ng court nust consider
only those facts alleged in the conplaint and accept all of the

all egations as true. 1d.; see also Rocks v. Philadel phia, 868

F.2d 644, 645 (3d Cir. 1989) (holding that in deciding a notion
to dismss for failure to state a claim the court nust "accept
as true all allegations in the conplaint and all reasonable

i nferences that can be drawn therefrom and view themin the

i ght nost favorable to the nonnoving party”"). A notion to
dismss a RRCOclaimis to be considered in accordance with the
sane "liberal standard which applies to Rule 12(b)(6) notions to

dismss non-RICOclains." Rose v. Bartle, 871 F.2d 331, 355-56

(3d Gir. 1989).

V. DI SCUSSI ON

A. The Purpose of RI CO

As an initial matter, Defendants advance a policy argunent
in an attenpt to defeat Plaintiff’s civil RICO claim According

to Defendants, the racketeering activities enbraced by the RI CO



statute “must include ‘crinmes that have been traditionally
associated wth transgressions of racketeers.’” (Defs.’ Mt. at

10 (quoting Tabas v. Tabas, 47 F.3d 1280, 1290 (3d Cr. 1995)).)

Al t hough Defendants admt that courts have recogni zed the
viability of RICO clains in situations not involving organized
crime, Defendants argue that RI CO was not enacted to provide a
Federal forumto an individual dissatisfied with a divorce
decree. (Accountant Defs.’” Mt. at 3.)

The broad sweep of the civil RICO statute has been the
subj ect of nuch debate and criticismby commentators and jurists
alike. But inthis GCrcuit it is clear that a plaintiff can
state a RICO claimeven if the claimis based on acts that fal
outside the scope of traditional racketeering activities of

organi zed crine. In interpreting HJ., Inc. v. Northwestern Bel

Tel. Co., 492 U.S. 229, 109 S. . 2893 (1989), the Court of

Appeals for the Third Grcuit (“Third Crcuit”) in Tabas upheld a
broad reading of the RICO statute.

Al t hough Defendants rely on Tabas in support of their
argunent that the Court should dismss Plaintiff’s R CO claimon
policy grounds, they quote Tabas out of context. The Third
Circuit expressly states that civil R CO clains need not be based
on crimes traditionally associated with racketeers (e.qg., nurder,
bri bery, extortion, and kidnapping). Tabas, 47 F.3d at 1290.

“Racketeering activity,” within the neaning of civil R CO can
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al so be based on other Federal offenses, such as mail and wire
fraud. |d. The Third G rcuit recognized that the inclusion of
mail and wire fraud within the scope of civil Rl CO extends RI CO
beyond the world of racketeers to the real mof comon | aw,
“garden variety” fraud found in commercial litigation. |d.
Neverthel ess, the Third Circuit did not place any limts on the
scope of civil RICOin Tabas. Here, Plaintiff’s RRCOclaimis
based on Defendants’ alleged mail and wire fraud. Al though the
al | eged fraudul ent schene perpetrated by the Defendants may be
accurately described as “garden variety” fraud, Tabas, 47 F.3d at
1290, such a characterization is not fatal to Plaintiff’'s R CO
claimunder the current state of the |aw

Def endants next argue that they have not found any cases in
Pennsyl vania in which civil R CO has been used to attack a
di vorce decree, child support order, or alinony award.
(Accountant Defs.’” Mdt. at 3.) Although the Court al so has not
found any such Pennsyl vani a cases, the Court has found a nunber
of Federal cases where courts have entertained civil R CO clains

relating to famly law matters. E. 9., Gimett v. Brown, 75 F. 3d

506 (9th Gr. 1996); Calcasieu Marine Nat. Bank v. Gant, 943

F.2d 1453 (5th Cr. 1991). Wth Tabas as guidance and with the
deci sions of other courts in mnd, the Court will not dismss

Plaintiff’s RICO claimon policy grounds.
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B. Statute of Limtations

Def endants argue that the statute of limtations has run on
Plaintiff’s RICO claimand that it should be dism ssed because it
is untinely.

Cvil RRCOclains are subject to a four-year statute of

l[imtations.® Agency Holding Corp. v. Mlley-Duff & Assocs.,

Inc., 483 U. S. 143, 156, 107 S. C. 2759, 2767 (1987). Until

| ast year, two alternate rules for determ ning when a civil RICO
claimaccrues -- the “injury and pattern discovery” rule and the
“last predicate act” rule -- were followed in the Third Grcuit.

Keystone Ins. Co. v. Houghton, 863 F.2d 1125, 1130 (3d Gr.

1988). Under the “injury and pattern discovery” rule, “the
limtations period starts to run when a plaintiff knew or should
have known that the RICO claim (including a ‘pattern of

racketeering activity') existed.” Klehr v. A O Smth Corp.

us _ , 117 S. C. 1984 (1997)(citing Keystone, 863 F.2d at
1130)). Under the “last predicate act” rule, the Third Crcuit
added the foll ow ng exception to the “injury and pattern
di scovery” rul e:
[I]f, as part of the sanme pattern of racketeering activity,
there is further injury to the plaintiff or further

predi cate acts occur, . . . the accrual period shall run
fromthe time when the plaintiff knew or should have known

°Def endants incorrectly argue that the applicable statute of
l[imtations for plaintiff’s civil RRCOclaimis the limtations
peri od under Pennsylvania |aw for opening or vacating a divorce
decree on the basis of fraud. (Defs.’” Mt. at 3.)
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of the last injury or the last predicate act which is part
of the same pattern of racketeering activity. The | ast
predi cate act need not have resulted in injury to the
plaintiff but nust be part of the sanme pattern.

In Klehr, the Suprene Court overruled the “last predicate
act” rule of accrual set forth by the Third Circuit in Keystone.®
Al t hough Kl ehr abrogates Keystone with respect to the “l ast
predicate act” rule, the Suprene Court did not address the
“injury and pattern discovery” rule also followed in the Third
Circuit. Therefore, the “injury and pattern discovery” rule set
forth in Keystone continues to be good law in the Third Crcuit.

Plaintiff alleges in her Conplaint that she discovered in
1996 that Defendants had devi sed and perpetrated a fraudul ent
schenme to conceal Norman Perl berger’s assets and i ncone from her
(Conpl. at § 20.) For the purposes of anal yzing Def endants’
Motions, the Court accepts as true Plaintiff’s allegation
concerning her discovery of her injury and Defendants’ pattern
of racketeering activities. Plaintiff filed her Conplaint on
June 18, 1997, within the applicable four year Iimtations

period. Therefore, the Court will deny Defendants’

®'n Klehr, the Suprene Court declined to resolve the
guestion of when a civil RICO cause of action accrues, even
t hough a split of authority in the Courts of Appeals exists as to
t his questi on.
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Motions to Disnmss Plaintiff’s R CO clai mon statute of

l[imtations grounds.

C. Plaintiff’'s RICO O aim

Four distinct RICO violations are defined in 18 U S.C. 88§
1962(a)-(d). Plaintiff alleges violations of all four
subsections of Section 1962. There are common el enents in al
four offenses. A RICO claimunder Section 1962 nust allege “(1)
the conducting of (2) an enterprise, (3) through a pattern, (4)

of racketeering activity.” Sedima, S.P.RL. v. Inrex Co., 473

U S. 479, 496, 105 S. C. 3275, 3285 (1985).

1. Ent erpri se

The Attorney Defendants argue that Plaintiff has failed
adequately to allege a distinct enterprise. The
“distinctiveness” requirenent applies to Section 1962(c) cl ai ns.

Jaguar Cars, Inc. v. Roval Oaks Mdtor Car Co., Inc., 46 F.3d 258,

268 (3d Cr. 1995)(under Section 1962(c), "a claimsinply against
one corporation as both 'person' and 'enterprise' is not
sufficient"). “[A] viable § 1962(c) action requires a claim
agai nst defendant ‘persons’ acting through a distinct
‘“enterprise.’” |d.

Wth respect to Plaintiff’s Section 1962(c) violation, the

Court finds that Plaintiff has adequately alleged a distinct
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enterprise. The naned Defendants are all “persons” for purposes
of Plaintiff’s Section 1962(c) claim 18 U S.C. A 8 1961(3)
(West 1984) (a “person” includes any individual or entity capable
of holding legal or beneficial interest in property). An
“enterprise” includes “any individual, partnership, corporation,
associ ation, or other |legal entity, and any union or group of

i ndi vidual s associated in fact although not a legal entity.” 18
US CA 8 1961(4)(West 1984). The distinctiveness requirenent
bars a claimagainst, for exanple, a single entity as both
“person” and “enterprise.” Plaintiff’s Section 1962(c) claimis
not based on such a scenario. Rather, Plaintiff alleges that a
group of five individuals and two professional corporations are
the persons liable and that the enterprise is the association-in-
fact of those persons. As such, the allegations of Plaintiff’s
Conpl ai nt satisfy the distinctiveness requirenent for her Section

1962(c) claim Shearin v. E. F. Hutton Goup, Inc., 885 F.2d

1162, 1165-66 (3d Cir. 1989)(three corporate defendants, alleged
to be persons under RICO also together forman association-in-

fact enterprise).’

I'n their original Mtion to Dismiss, the Accountant

Def endants argued that Plaintiff had failed adequately to allege
t he exi stence of an enterprise and so her RI CO cl ai mshould be
dism ssed. Plaintiff’s RICO claimwas not fully devel oped in her
Conpl aint, and therefore Defendants’ challenge to the enterprise
requi renent was framed in a very general manner. Pursuant to the
Court’s Order, Plaintiff filed a RICO Case Statenent and Anended
Count 11l in which she provided greater detail concerning the
nature and extent of the alleged fraudul ent schenme and the role
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2. Pattern of Racketeering Activity

Def endants al so argue that Plaintiff has failed to
adequately allege a pattern of racketeering activity as required
to mintain a RRCOclaim A “pattern of racketeering activity”
requi res the occurrence of at |east two acts of racketeering
activity (i.e., predicate acts) within a ten year period. 18
US C 8§ 1961(5). Plaintiff has alleged numerous predicate acts,
based on mail and wire fraud in violation of 18 U S.C. 88 1341
(mail fraud) and 1343 (wire fraud), dating from 1987 to the
present.

The Accountant Defendants argue that Plaintiff has all eged
only two predicate acts that involve them that one of these
predicate acts is insufficiently pled, and that, therefore,
Plaintiff has not pled a pattern of racketeering activity that
inplicates them The Court disagrees. Plaintiff has alleged
nunmer ous predi cate acts involving the Accountant Defendants
related to the followng matters: the preparation of a fraudul ent
“Joint financial statenent” for Defendant Perl berger and Ms.

Strausser for use in the Perlbergers’ divorce proceedi ngs; the

pl ayed by each Defendant in the schenme. |In their Supplenental
Menorandum i n support of their Mtion to Dism ss, the Accountant
Def endants nade no attenpt to reargue the enterprise issue in
light of the anended RI CO claim Because the Accountant

Def endants do not identify the ways in which Plaintiff’s

al | egations concerning the existence of a RICO enterprise are
insufficient, the Court wll dismss the Accountant Defendants’
Motion on this ground.
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purchase of the Lionville property and other properties by M.
Strausser; the financing of Perlberger Law Associ ates by M.
Strausser; the paynents by Perl berger Law Associates to M.
Strausser; and the transfer of income and assets of Defendant
Per | berger and Perl berger Law Associ ates to Defendant Brennan.
The Court finds that Plaintiff has adequately pled two predicate
acts agai nst the Accountant Defendants.

In addition to the above requirenents, the predicate acts
must (1) be related and (2) anmount to or pose a threat of

continued crimnal activity. HJ., Inc., 492 U S at 239, 109 S.

C. at 2900. The Accountant Defendants also argue that Plaintiff
has failed adequately to allege the continuity requirenent. This
requi renent refers either to a closed period of repeated conduct
or to past conduct that by its nature projects into the future
wth a threat of repetition. [d., 492 U S. at 241-42, 109 S. C.
at 2902.

A party alleging a RICO viol ation may denonstrate continuity
over a closed period by pleading a series of related predicate
acts extending over a substantial period of tinme. 1d. Although
neither the Suprene Court nor the Third Crcuit has defined with
precision the length of tinme necessary to establish cl osed-ended
continuity, it is not necessary for the Court to reach that issue
inthis case. Plaintiff’s Conplaint alleges predicate acts that

were perpetrated over a period of time in excess of three years.
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A schene | asting over three years extends over a substanti al
period of tinme and therefore constitutes the type of |ong-term
crimnal conduct that RI CO was enacted to address. Tabas, 47
F.3d at 1294. The Court finds that Plaintiff’s Conplaint
contai ns adequate allegations to neet the cl osed-ended continuity
requi renment.

Finally, both the Accountant Defendants and the Attorney
Def endants suggest that Plaintiff is the only victimof the
al | eged fraudul ent schene and therefore the Court should dismss
the RICO claimon this basis. |In nmaking this argunent,
Def endants ignore the fact the Plaintiff brings this lawsuit on
behal f of her two minor children as well as on her own behal f.
Furthernore, even if the schene did only injure one victim that
W Il not necessarily preclude the finding of a pattern of
racketeering activity. See Tabas, 47 F.3d at 1306 (remarking
“IWjhile it is true that the presence of only one victim does
not necessarily preclude the finding of a RICO pattern, this fact
clearly weighs against the finding of continuity”)(G eenberg, J.,

di ssenting).?®

8 The Attorney Defendants advance a number of argunents in
support of their Mdtion to Dismiss, including Plaintiff’'s failure
adequately to allege proxi mate cause and effect on interstate
commerce. Although these issues are not fully devel oped or
adequately researched by Defendants, the Court has neverthel ess
anal yzed these issues. The Court finds that Plaintiff has
adequately all eged an effect on interstate conmerce. Shearin,
885 F.2d at 1165-66. The Court notes that even if Plaintiff had
not properly alleged an effect on interstate comrerce, such a
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For the reasons set forth above, the Court w Il deny

Def endants’ Mdtion to Dismss Plaintiff’s R CO cl aim

D. Plaintiff's State Law d ai ns

In addition to the RRCO claim Plaintiff’s Conpl ai nt
includes state law clains for fraud, intentional infliction of
enotional distress, and personal injury. Oiginal diversity
jurisdiction over these clains does not exist because conplete
diversity of citizenship of the parties is lacking. 28 US.C 8§
1332. Therefore, the Court’s jurisdiction over these clains can
be based only on principles of supplenental jurisdiction. 28
U S C § 1367.

The Court finds that the state clains are so related to the
RICO claimthat they formpart of the sane case or controversy.
Therefore, the Court will exercise its supplenental jurisdiction,
pursuant to Section 1367(a), over Plaintiff’s state clains.

The Accountant Defendants al so contend that Plaintiff’s
state law clains are subject to dism ssal under Rule 12(b)(6) for
failure to state a claim |In this regard, the Court finds that

Plaintiff has alleged fraud with the specificity required by Rule

defect would not be fatal to her RICOclaim 1d. Wth respect
to the proxi mate cause requirenent, a plaintiff nust allege that
she was injured and that the defendant’s violation was the

proxi mate cause of her injury. Holnmes v. Securities |Investor
Protection Corp., 503 U. S 258, 268, 112 S. C. 1311, 1317-18
(1992). The Court finds that Plaintiff has adequately all eged
pr oxi mat e cause.
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9(b) of the Federal Rules of Cvil Procedure. The Court is also
unper suaded by Defendants’ argunent that Plaintiff cannot
maintain a claimfor intentional infliction of enotional distress
because their conduct cannot be characterized as outrageous.
Def endants have failed to cite to any relevant authority in
support of their argunent. At this juncture in the proceedi ngs,
the Court declines to find, as a matter of law, that the all eged
conduct of the Accountant Defendants cannot be characterized as
out r ageous.

Finally, the Accountant Defendants maintain that they did
not owe Plaintiff a duty of care and therefore the Court shoul d
di sm ss her personal injury claimagainst them The only | egal
support that the Accountant Defendants cite for this argunent is

GQuy v. Liederbach, 459 A 2d 744 (Pa. 1983), in which the

Pennsyl vani a Suprene Court nodified the “strict privity”

requi renent (i.e., that an attorney-client relationship nust
exist) for a claimby a third-party beneficiary in an attorney
mal practice action. Plaintiff does not seek recovery as a third-
party beneficiary on a contract for professional services between
Def endants Perl berger and Perl berger Law Associ ates, on the one
hand, and the Accountant Defendants, on the other hand.

Therefore, the Court will not dismiss this claimon the grounds
stated by the Accountant Defendants.

The Court, however, will not treat Count VII as a separate
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claimfor relief. Rather, the Court will treat the alleged
personal injury, and damages therefrom as derived from
Plaintiff’s claimfor intentional infliction of enotional

di stress.

An appropriate Order follows.
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